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Profile

Optiver is a global Market Maker using its own
capital at its own risk. Qur activities reflect no
correlation with speculation of absolute prices.

As a Market Maker we add liquidity to global
exchanges and focus on relative pricing differences
between related securities. Setting the quotes as
tight as possible, results in better prices for traded
products and thus in efficient and transparent
financial markets. This benefits pension funds,
financial institutions, retail investors and other
matket participants. By offering liquidity, volume
and pricing on different exchanges and platforms,
Optiver contributes to the stability and functioning
of global financial markets and economies at large.

The transition to electronic trading means we no
longer need a physical presence on the trading
flocr. Despite the large scale on which we do
business, comparatively we take on limited risk.
As trading requires a superior understanding of
the facters influencing securities, derivatives and
other prices we have the ability to respond swiftly
to them.

We trade on a large number of traditional and
alternative trading platforms covering listed
derivatives, futures contracts, equities, ETFs, bonds
and foreign currencies. Optiver Europe is one of
the principal participants in the NYSE Euronext
Liffe segment (derivatives) and is active on all the
major European equities and derivatives platforms.
Our Asia Pacific office is one of the primary

players within the options markets with offices in
Sydney, Hong Kong and Taipei, Optiver trades on
the Australian, Hong Kong, Taiwanese, Japanese
and Korean financial markets. Our US office
functions on several of the |leading derivatives and
stock exchanges of the US market. Additionally,
Optiver has taken a leading rofe in broader industry
initiatives, such as Chi-X and TOM, that also

promote efficiency and transparency.

Providing not just a challenging working
environment, but one of quality, Optiver regards
its people as its most important asset. With over
600 colleagues around the world we cover all time

zones, which enables us to trade 24 hours a day.
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Supervisory Board review

We are pleased to present to you the annual financial
statements of Optiver Holding BV for 2009. These
statements have been audited by KPMG Accountants
N.V., the Auditor's report is included under “Other

information”.

We are satisfied with the annual financial statements

for 2009 and propose to you that:

— the annual financial statements for 2009, as
contained in this report, be approved;

— the Board of Directors be discharged from all
liability with respect to its management;

- the Supervisory Board be discharged from all
liability with respect to its supetvision;

— The net profit of 2009 of € 6.3 million be added
to the retained earnings.

The Supervisory Board met 7 times during the

year under review. The Global Management Board
was present at each of these meetings. Agenda
itemns were risk management, company strategy,
corporate governance, compliance, administrative
Organisation and internal control, Human Resources,
business operations and IT, as well as the company

results. The external auditor was present in one

meeting, to discuss the annual report 2008 and
the management letter 2008. The Risk Manager
and Compliance Manager were each present at ane
meeting in order to clarify the developments for
Optiver in their respective discipline.

Mr Keldoulis resigned from the Global Management
Board at the end of 2009. The Supervisory Board
highly valued his contribution to the company
especially as founder of the Sydney office.

As of 1 July 2009 Mr van Besouw joined the
Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its great
appreciation for the effort and involvement of staff,

partners and directors.

Amsterdam, 16 April 2010
The Supervisory Board

R.N.Th.M. Viek (Chairman)
A.WA. Boot
PP.J.JM van Besouw
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General

The market circumstances in 2009 were
challenging. We experienced lower trading volumes,
lower trading values and lower volatilities than

in 2008. It is because of 2008 extreme market
circumstances and volatile weeks, especially in
September and October, that trading income
decreased with 62.9% from € 710.6 million in
2008 to € 263.7 million in 2009.

fn 2009 we prepared our business fo_r the growth
opportunities expected over the coming years.
We have invested more in our IT infrastructure,
innovations and workforce. We ran a tight cost-
control programme to gain efficiencies within the

organisation.

In 2009, the results from operating activities
amounted to € 25.9 million versus € 372.8 million
in 2008.

In 2009 a total of € 63 million was repaid on the
preference H shares and the subordinated

loans.

We propose to add the net profit of

£ 6.3 million to the retained earnings. The total
equity at year end 2009 amounts to

€ 393.7 million. This capital base is strong and is
above the amounts needed to satisfy internal and

external requirements.

--;mf@@@%

The lower trading volumes also resulted in a
decrease in trading assets and liabilities. Total assets
decreased with 28% to € 4,632 miltion.

Market Structure Developments

The competition between the traditional exchanges
and the new, innovative trading platforms continued
to increase during 2009.

The legislation which was introduced over the

last few years, such as Reg NMS in the United
States and MIFID in Europe, aims to stimulate

this competition, New trading platforms, either for
equities, derivatives or both, have been or are being
created ali over the world.

To name a few: BATS Exchange and Nasdaq Options
Market in the US, The Order Machine (TOM), NYSE
Arca Europe and Burgundy in Eurcpe and Chi-X
Australia in Australia.

Chi-X Europe continued to gain market share and
became the third largest European equities market
during 2009. Competition forces incumbent
exchanges to invest in better technology, to lower
the trading fees and to improve the clearing and
settlement process. Increased competition between
trading platforms is beneficial to all market

participants, including the end-investor.

The Order Machine {TOM), a joint-venture with
BinckBank N.V., is promaoting this competition
between exchanges and new trading platforms,




TOM combines the best possible execution of
orders with a tow cost, transparent and efficient
trading platform. For clients of connected banks
and brokers, TOM seeks out the best price at which
an order can be executed on a variety of trading
platforms, including the TOM platform. TOM will, as
a Mutilateral Trading Facility {MTF), offer access to
all market participants in 2010.

During 2009 we have also seen an increasing
importance of less (or non) transparent trading
platforms, the so called dark pools. Dark pools

aim to protect large institutional investors against
leakage of information about their large orders. This
argument, however, is nat legitimate for smalller}
orders, currently the vast majority of the volume
executed in dark pools. This results in an undesired
lower level of transparency. At present, the US and
European regulators are thinking about measures to

curb this sort of matching of orders.

The global financial crisis has shown some important
differences between the Qver The Ceunter (OTC)
market and the regulated markets. The central
counterparties used by the regulated markets
increase the transparency and the awareness of
volumes and risks of the traded products. A daily
mark-to-market pricing and margining system
reduces the systemic risk. The regulators are
currently working on finding ways to transfer 0TC
trading into a listed and centralised trading and
clearing environment.

Optiver promotes reliable, fair and transparent
financial markets and is actively engaged in creating
andfor improving these markets.

Global Management Board

Optiver's activities are conducted by various
subsidiaries, which are managed by Local
Management Teams. The Local Management Teams
report to the Global Management Board. This board
consist of Mr Johann Kaemingk (Chairman), Mr Jelle
R. Elzinga {Market Structure), Mr Randal P.A.-Meijer
(CEQ), Mr Jan Marten Visser (C10} and Mr Edwin van
de Ven {CFO&CRO).

Mr Robert J Keldoulis resigned from his position as
a board member at the end of 2009. Mr Keldoulis
has played an important role in the growth of Optiver
and especially within our Sydney office. The Global
Management Board highly valued his contribution

to the company and his inspirational leadership over
the last two decades.

The role of the Global Management Board is to
review the ocal strategies, policies and results and
to assess global business opportunities as they arise.
They also ensure that Optiver’s global culture is

embedded in the local organisations.

Managing risk

We helieve that effective and independent risk
management is central to the long term success of
Optiver.




are in the pllot pha_se.

We have a comprehensive framework to identify,
measure, manage and control risks we take in our
business activities, As a trading firm, Cptiver runs

market, credit and operational risks.

We recognise it is not always possible or cost effec-

tive to eliminate all possible risks and we have taken
a risk-based approach in monitoring and controlling

those risks.

During 2009 the risk departments took the opportunity
to further invest in strengthening their capabilities by
adding senior staff, developing new risk management
tools and making strides towards integratedirisk manage-
ment. These efforts have resulted in new and improved
risk analytics and processes, enhanced controls, and
further developing and embedding our cuiture of low risk
profile within the concept of three lines of defence.

An important focus during the year was identifying
and assessing key enterprise-wide risks fundamental
to Optiver's business, in an effort to better understand
our risk profile and drive business accountability for
risk and controls. This assessment enables senior
management to evaluate our perfarmance and take
action to reduce our exposure within risk tolerance
limits. To accomplish these goals, the risk functions
have engaged senior management in an active dia-
logue on key risks, the control framework in p!acé and
specific actions to address any weaknesses.

Continuing growth in our core infrastructure
-people, trading, IT systems and associated

processes- will further amplify inherent levels of
operational risk across the Group’s operations.
Hence a permanent assessment of risks and internal
controls is increasingly important,

Local management has continued to develop its risk
frameworks based on good practice and industry
standards. Significant progress has been made

in identification, assessment and monitoring of
operational risk incidents to allow us to back test
our control framework, as well as take preventative
actions to mitigate risks from recccurring, Local
management will continue to enhance the risk
incidents framework by quantifying the realised
financial loss from operaticonal risk incidents and
develop a global risk register system.

As Optivar's risk function develops and matures,
increased recognition of the need for global
information sharing and synergy has helped drive
and improve consistency in risk teams across the
offices, with work continuing to focus on alignment
of methodologies and tools.

IT

This year the migration of all traders to one core
system was completed and the operational support
secured. A lot of effort was put into fine tuning the
system and adapting it to local circumstances. More
exchanges were connected and more and more of
our systems are located in data centres close to the
exchanges.




Continuous improvement remains imperative in the
trading business that depends heavily on advanced
technology. Several innovative projects have
already been started and we see an ongoing effort
to disperse our local innovations across the entire
company as quickly as we can. Several tools aimed
at increasing the productivity per trader are in the
pilot phase.

Optiver regards the quality of the cooperation
between trading and IT as a major strategic factor,
Consequently this item was the main topic of the
Glebal Company Summit held in May 2009 and
attended by the 3 Local Management Teams and the
Globat Management Board.

The central theme at this meeting was the global
cooperation between trading and iT, During this
meeting important steps were taken to advance the
organisational integration of trading and IT, a process
that will continue in the years to come.

The crugial role of IT has not only been reflected
in our strategy but alsg in the total proportion of IT
staff; 2009 was the first year that there were more iT

people employed than traders.

Comptiance

Correspanding with the importance that is applied

to an ethical company culture and the aspiration

to safeguard a compliant cenduct of all business
activities, further endeavours have been made to
extend the compliance teams in the Optiver locations

and to strengthen and evolve the local compliance

programmes.

The design, development and execution of a
compliance risk management cycle lead to an
improvement of the quality level of compliance risk
management and therewith contributed to a more
solid compliance programme. Based on the results of
the compliance risk assessment that was performed,
a compliance monitoring programme was developed.
The core element of this programme is an automated
continuous trade monitoring. Next {o these

structural initiatives, also a variety of individual,
tailored measures, such as the systematic review of
trading behaviours, have been taken to enhance the
management of compliance risks.

Also the training and education efforts continued
during the year. The compliance teams developed a
general e-learning programme for global usage, and
a variety of training initiatives including face to face
trainings were provided to especially traders, trainees
and new personnel.

The policy frameworks have been further
supplemented and strengthened. Additional policies,
mainly targeted at employee and IT integrity, have
been released and existing policies and manuals

have been revised and up-dated.
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Personnel, Culture and Ethics

we would like to thank the staff at Optiver who
continue to show enthusiasm, loyalty and dedication
to the tasks in hand. In terms of trading, as
previously mentioned, Qptiver has felt the crisis and
despite it affecting profits, the knock did not deter
our employees. We are well placed in the industry in
which we operate and our strengths prevailed teading
us to new opportunities. Research, innovation and
the initiation of new ideas demonstrated our ability
to stand strong as a firm and ride out the recession.

Last year we reported that this year we would be
preparing ourselves for more growth, This resulted in
personnel growth of 23% compared to 2008. During
the last 12 months however, Optiver concluded

that expansion should be more aligned to changed
market circumstances. Therefore, we consolidated
some areas of the business, made the recruitment
process more selective, and reduced the number of
external hires.

Standing stifl in our business is not an option, our
employees go a stage further than just understanding
this — they embrace it. Getting the right people on
the right spots and providing the tools for our people
to have a better understanding of the business as a
whole is very important to us.

We believe that our culture is something that
differentiates us. It is all well and good having a
pleasant wark environment and secandary benefits,

however we feel it is the camaraderie and connection

g,

that people have internally which makes Optiver tick.
Over the past year, we have seen a [ot of
collaboration and sharing of knowledge between our
offices.

Continuous improvement is a value that we seek
from our employees, and in terms of strategy we
intend to do the same. We endeavour to strengthen
our culture along with the personal development of
our employees with a non-hierarchical approach that

shows our profound importance of ethics.

Optiver culture is also reflected by employing more
than 35 nationalities globally, peaple learn from

one ancther. Through the rollout of global training,
in order to streamline the development of tatent
worldwide, we shape the environment in which

we operate as well ensuring people are in touch

with what is happening in the industry. Gur aim,
encompassed in,our culture, is for everyone at
Optiver to unite, do the right thing and walk the talk.

In face of our current position, our expanding
international presence and our strategic objectives,
it is important t6 openly discuss our fundamental
beliefs regarding the way we do business. We do this
not by policing our employees but giving them the
correct tools in order to become more aware of these
elements, Encouragingly, we find that the uptake of
these items is optimistic and have a positive effect.

In 2009 the written Qptiver principles on Ethics
and Business Conduct were introduced globally.




These principles of integrity, honesty and mutual
respect, whether put in writing or not, have always
been at the heart of our behaviour. The booklet that
we distributed amangst our employees in 2009,
illustrates these values and emphasises, in writing,
the standards we expect all employees, worldwide,
to follow and the behaviours we expect them to
adopt.

To foster a true culture of ethical behaviour, we
intreduced an in-hcuse ethics training for all our
employees. Conducting our business together, in

a way that sees us acting not as policemen but as
business partners with integrity, honesty and respect
and having a solid moral fundament for our actions
is an ongoing topic on our agenda and next to our
current employees this training is also part of the
induction programme for cur new employees.

Social responsibility

Corporate social responsibility is something that we
take seriously. We fee! that we should embrace the
impact that our business has on the environment
and on our employees. There are a number of
schemes that each office has taken up individually.
Whether it is a charitable donation for a disaster,
helping restore the home of a family or donating to
those fess fortunate than those at Optiver — every
little hetps.

Facility teams are aware and ensure that Optiver
complies to Health and Environmental aspects.
Where possible Optiver offices are located close

to public transport facilities. Almost ail our staff
travels to work by means of public transport or bike,

Outicok 2010

2010 will be another challenging year for

Optiver. In the first few months we experienced a
further decrease in volumes and volatility. In this
cempetitive environment we will continue to focus

on controlling our operating expenses.

Furthermore we will keep our organisation flexible

in order to profit from opportunities when and where
they occur. Our experience has been that whenever
possibilities occur this has a positive effect on our
profits. This and our motivated staff gives us faith for
the future of our company.

Amsterdam, 16 April 2010
The Board of Directors

J.E.A. van de Ven
L M. Visser



i 1
Key figures 2005-2009 ¥
i \ 2009 nange 2008 2007 1§
[ | in % :
! |
Income statement (in € million)
\ ’ i o
Trading income 3: 263.7 -62.9 s[ 7106 | 5511
cr = ; e _.._—..'.:‘-.—..-:u'_'z.m ;Jl-;:-rc—.:z - SO N
f 1
Net trading income i 177.7 69.9 |‘ 590.6 449.3
ii :
Expenses 151.8 3031 2178 166.2
, 3 L iL, | R
ii T !
Expenses / Net trading income (%) | 85.4 1316 . 36.9 37.0
Net profit ; 16.8 94.3 294.6 217.1
Net profit attributable to equity holders i 6.3 -97.2 | 228.4 179.2
Balance sheet (in € million)
- | i
Balance sheet total 4,632.4 -27.9 6,421.8 ! 19,7333
Equity attributable to equity holders ‘ 393.7 385.7 1499
e i ) = od
; fin 7
Minority interest 9.4 r 59.4 36.7
Subordinated liabilities | 26 704 1 195.0
Deffered tax liabilities 26.4 54.7 300
Cash and cash equivalents , 261.1 -35.0 401.9 1529
i I S U
fi e
Issued shares at year end (diluted) ] 1,402,637 1,399,364 || 1,374,623
. ‘ -.L-——-- e ":_"_:"r._,ﬂ ST S e b
Net profit per share (in €) f 4.5 57,2 163.2_J‘i 130.4
Ry S :T (e s 4.‘",,_1.. FEPIPEN R T T L LI LTI L I S IR PP PR ST P o,
Equity (dituted) per share (in €) : 282.5 133 L 3259 250.9
= i ~m e S OO
Number of FTE's at year end (including partners) 650 23.3 527 411
1) Figures 2005 and 2008 based on Dutch GAAP; figures 2007 to 2009 hased on IFRS as adopted by EU




317.1 160.6

bececemepromcrss
257.2 120.7
89.3 476
34.; 394
B 1388 63.9
95.33 o 42.1
7.414.8 5,235.4
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50.4 41.0
0.0 0.0
318 325
1445 108.3
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 Dzcember (hefare profit approgriation)

) _NOTE 2009 2008
In € miftion i 1
}‘ |
| !
Assets ‘ 1
Cash and cash equivalents : 1 261.1 401.97
Trading assets | 8 42246, 5,554.4
Due from clearing organisations 3 9 31.2 302.4:
Corporate income tax 32.1 84.1
Other current assets and prepaid expenées 106 11.9':
Investments available-for-sale ‘l i 9.8 7.t
Associates and joint ventures : 1 20 1.0l
Praperty and equipment ‘ 12 61.0, 59.0!
Total assets 1 46324, 64218
|
Liabilities j‘, |
Trading liabilities B 3,249.8! 5,326.0'
Due to clearing organisations : L 825.1 ; 320.0
Other liabilites 13 116" 188.5!
Subordinated liabilities " 26| 70.4 !
Provisions : 15 13.81 17.1,
Deferred tax liabilities 16 26.4| 54,7 i
' |
Total liabilities 42293  5976.7,
| | :
Equity | :
Share capital and share premium 196, 14.0}
Retained earnings 1854 64.6 |
Other reserves i 182.4 78.7 1
Unappropriated result for the year 6.3 228.4 1
i, | !
Total equity attributable to equity holders 1" 393.7- 385.7
|
Minority interest 9.4 59.4]
; , !
Total equity 403.1 445.1
Total liabilities and equity ‘ 4,632.4 6,421.8




Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

In € miliion

Trading income

Direct trading expenses

Net trading income

Personnel expenses

Depreciation

Othar expenses

Results from operating activities

Net finance expense

Share of profit of equity accounted investees (net of income tax}
Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Net loss on hedges of net investments in foreign cperations
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax
Total comprehensive income far the period

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders

Minority interest

Profit for the period

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders

Minarity interest

Total comprehensive income for the period

. hore

2

2009 2008
263.7 710.6:
-86.0 -120.0]
177.7. 590.6.
-73.8 -136.3
-220° -13.5;
-56.0 -68.01
25.9 372.8
0.9. -5.6,
I

2.3 0.8
) |

22.7 366.4‘!
I

5.9 718}

: i

16.8 294.6;
!

43 6.9 |
4.3 5.9
2.2, -1.6:1

i

2.2 -1.6j|

19.0° 293.01L
6.3 228.4!
10.5 ss.zi
16.8 294.6.
8.5 226.8
10.5 66.2
19.0 293.0




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

1 € million

i
i
[

" “Share " -
capital

Balance at 1 January zooa

T
Total cornprehenswe income for the perigd

Profit for the perlod

Other comprehenswe income, net of i mcome tax:

Net change in falr vaiue of available-for- sale
financial assets

Currency translation differences

| S,

Total other comprehensive income

T
Total comprehensive incomne for the period

Transaction with owners, recorded directiy in equity

issue of (treasury) shares

Appropriation of result 2007

Purchase of own shares

Payment to mmorlty interest

Total transaction W|th owners

o P ——

Balance at 31 December 2008 b

Total comprehenswe mcome for the perlod

-

Profit for the penod

Other comprehenswe mcome, net of mcome tax:

Net change in fair value of available-for- sale
financial assets ;

Currenicy translation differences J

Tota! other comprehensive income

i
1
I

= 'I
Total comprehensive income for the period

Transaction with owners, recorded directiy in equity [

T

Issue of (treasury) shares :

5.5

1.1

Appropriation of result 2008

126.9

Purchase of own shares

-7.2

lr
o y
T
Payment to mmonty mterest

Total transaction W|th owners

55

120.8

Balance at 31 December 2009

1854
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10.0
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-43.5
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-179.2

9.0

-43.5
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

in € million

Cash flows from operating acti\%ities
Net trading income J}
From clearing organisations i
Personnel expenses paid f
Other operating expenses paid

Dividend- and income tax ‘
Paid interest on subordinated loans ‘

Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of available-for-sales investmejhts
Purchase of associates and joint ventureﬁ?s

Purchase of property and equipment

Net cash flow from investing activities '

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchase of own shares 1,
Proceeds from issue of shares
Payment to minarity interest

Change in subordinated liabilities

!
Net cash flow from financing activities }

’
Change in cash and cash equivalents |
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January‘%l
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations !

i
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decem‘ber

NOTE

(2009 ] 2008 |
! .
1 .
“ i
177.7! 590.6
299, 104.7'
-152.0 -141.1
637 46.2
14.0 60.6
6.5 6.9
0.6 4405
! !
' |

|
05" 2.4
3,01 12!
2271 -44.9/
262! .48.5

]
; |
72 1.0
6.7, 10.0"
444, -28.4"
-67.8, -124.6!
; :
-112.7] -144.0 |
-13955 2483:
401.9 152.9
13’ 10!

i
261.1 401.9




Notes to the Consolidated financial statements

1 Reporting entity

Optiver Holding BY {“Optiver”) is an international
market making company domiciled in The
Netherlands. The address of Optiver is
Strawinskylaan 3095, second floor, in Amsterdam.
The consolidated financial statements of Optiver
for the year ended 31 December 2009 comprise
Optiver and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the “Group™}. The Group primarily is involved in
exchange trading in securities and derivatives on a
global basis.

2 Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance

The Consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with [nternational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

2.2 Basis of measurement

The Consolidated financial statements have been

prepared on the historical cost basis except for the

following:

— ftrading assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value

- available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value

- investments in associates and joint ventures are
measured at net asset value (equity method).

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These Consclidated financial statements are
presented in euro, which is the Group's functional
currency.

2.4 lse of estimates and iudgeme.nts

The preparation of the Consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to Make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in whic.h

the estimate is revised and in any future periods
affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amount recognised in the
Consolidated financial statements are described in

notes 4 and 5.

2.5 Principles for the preparation of the Consolidated
statement of cash flows

The Consolidated statement of cash flows is
prepared using the direct method. Cash flows in
foreign currencies are translated in euros at the
date of the transactions. Currency and translation
differences are eliminated to the extent that they

have not resulted in cash flows.

2.6 Changes in accounting policies

The Group applies revised 1AS1 Presentation of
Financial Statements (2007), which became
effective as of 1 January 2009. As a result, the
Group presents in the Consolidated statement of
changes in equity, all owner changes in equity,
whereas all non-owner changes in equity are
presented in the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Comparative infarmation has
been represented so that it is also in conformity with
the revised standard. Since this change only impacts
presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings

per share.

2.7 Dther accounting developments
The following accounting developments are
considered relevant for the Group:

a Disclosures pertaining to fair vatues and liquidity risk for
financial instruments

The Group has applied Improving Disclosures
about Financia! Instruments (Amendments to IFRS
7}, issued in March 2009, that require enhanced




disclosures about fair value measurements and

liquidity risk in respect of financial instruments.

The amendments require that fair vatue
measurement disclosures use a three-level fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
inputs used in measuring fair values of financial
instruments. Specific disclosures are required

when fair value measurements are categorised as
Level 3 {significant unobservable inputs) in the fair
value hierarchy. The amendments require that any
significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
of the fair value hierarchy be disclosed separately,
distinguishing between transfers into and cut of each
level. Furthermore, changes in valuation techniques
from ane period ta another, including the reasons
therefore, are required to be disclosed for each
class of financial instruments. Revised disclosure
in respect of fair values of financial instruments are

included in note 4.6.

Further, the definition of liquidity risk has been
amended and it is now defined as the risk that an
entity will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligaticns asscciated with financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financiaf
asset. The amendments require disclosure of a
maturity analysis for non-derivative and derivative
financial liabilities, but contractual maturities are
required to be disclosed for derivative financial
liabilities only when contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of cash
flows. For issued financial guarantee contracts, the
amendments require the maximum amount of the
guarantee to be disclosed in the earliest period in

which the guarantee could be called.

b Hedge of net investment in a foreign eperation
Effective 1 January 2009 the Group has applied
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Cperation.

IFRIC 16 provides guidance with respect to the
nature of the foreign exchange risks that can be
hedged in a net investment in a foreign operation,

where in a consclidated group the hedging
instrument can be held, and what amounts should
be reciassified from equity to profit or Yoss as
reclassification adjustments on disposal of the

foreign operation.

Upon transition to IFRIC 16, the Group performed
an assessment of its existing designated net
investrment hedges and concluded that they met
the conditions for hedge accounting under this
Interpretation. Adoption of IFRIC 16 did not (ead
to any adjustments to the Group's Consolidated

financial statements.

3 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in
these Consolidated financial staternents and have
been applied consistently by Group entities, except
as explained in 2.6, which addresses changes in
accounting policies.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

a Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group,
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity s0 as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the Consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that
controf ceases. The financial statements have
been prepared using uniform accounting policies
for like transactions and other events in similar .

circumstances.

b Associates and jointly controlled entities {equity accounted
investees}

Associates are those entities in which the Group

- has significant influence, but not control, over the

financial and operating policies.




Significant influence is presumed to exist when
the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the
voting power of another entity. Joint ventures are
those entities over whose activities the Group has
joint control, established by contractual agreement
and requiring unanimous consent for strategic

financial and operating decisions.

Associates and jointly controlled entities are
accounted for using the equity method (equity
accounted investees) and are recognised initially

at cost. The Group’s investment includes goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated
impairment losses. The Consolidated financial
statements include the Group's share of the income
and expenses and equity movements of equity
accounted investees, after adjustments to align

the accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that significant influence or joint
control commences until the date that significant
influence or joint control ceases. When the Group's
share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity
accounted investee, the carrying amount of that
interest {including any long-term investments) is
reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of
the investee.

¢ Transactions eliminated on consolidaticn

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
Consolidated financial statements, Unrealised gains
arising from transactions with equity accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is

no evidence of impairment,

3.2 Foreign currency
a Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated

to the respective functional currencies of Group

entities at the spot exchange rates at the dates

of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign
currency gain or 10ss on monetary items is the
difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for
effective interest and payments during the period,
and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated
at the spot exchange rate at the end of the period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities dencminated in
foreign currenciés that are measured at fair value
are retranslated to the functional currency at the
spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Foreign currency differences arising
on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss,
except for differences arising on the retranslation of
available-for-salé equity instruments or a financial
liability designated as a hedge of the net investment
in a foreign operation (see ¢ below),

& Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of fereign operations

are translated to the functional currency at spot
exchange rates at the reporting date. The income
and expenses of 'foreign operations are transiated to
the functional currency at exchange rates derived
from the monthly hedging of the results of the

foreign operations to the functional currency.

¢ Kedge of net investment in foreign operation

When a derivative {or a non-derivative financial
liabitity) is designated as a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation, the effective
portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive
income in the translation reserve. Any ineffective
portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The
amount recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification

adjustment on disposal of the foreign operation.




3.3 Cash and cash equivatents

Cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted
balances held with {central) banks and highly liquid
financial assets with original maturities of less than
three months, which are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in their fair value, and are used

by the Group in the management of its short-term

commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost in the statement of financial position.

3.4 Financial assets and jiabilities

a General

The Group classifies its financial assets into the

following categories:

- financial assets at fair value through the profit
and loss (trading assets and liabilities)

- loans and advances

- held-te-maturity investments

- available-for-sale

The classification depends on the purpose fer which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition. Reference is made to note 6 for a
comparison between fair value and the carrying value
of all Group financial instruments.

b Financial assets and liabilities, at fair value through grofit
and loss

An instrument is classified at fair value through profit
or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as
such upon initial recognition. Financial instruments
are designated at fair value through profit or loss if
the Group manages such investments and makes
purchase and sale decisions based on their fair
value in accordance with the Group's doecumented
risk management or investment strategy. Upon
initial recognition attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, and changes therein are
recognised in profit or loss.

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets

and liabilities that the Group acquires or incurs
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term, or if so designated by management.
Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognised
and subsequently measured at fair value in the
balance sheet with transaction costs taken directly to
profit or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised
as part of net trading income in prefit or loss.
Trading assets and liabilities are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition.

¢ Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and that the Group
does not intend to sell immediately or in the near
term.

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair
value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

d Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative
assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intent
and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not
designated at fair value through profit or loss or
available-for-sale.

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Any sale or reclassification of a significant amount
of held-to-maturity investments not close to their
raturity would result in the reclassification of all
held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale,
and prevent the Group from classifying investment
securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the
following two financial years.




¢ Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative
investments that are not designated as another
category of financial assets. Unquoted equity
securities whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are carried at cost. All other available-for-

sale investments are carried at fair value.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using
the effective interest method. Dividend income is
recognised in profit or loss when the Group becomes
entitled to the dividend. Foreign exchange gains or
losses on available-for-sale debt security investments

are recognised in profit or loss.

Other fair value changes are recognised directly in
equity until the investment is sold or impaired and
the balance in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The ownership of the Group of participations and
so called seats in various exchanges is classified as

available-for-sale financial assets.

f Recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and advances
and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are
originated. All other financial assets and liabilities
{including assets and liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss) are initiatly recognised
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The group derecognises a financial asset when

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the centractual cash flows on the financial asset
in a transaction in which substantially ail the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial
assets that is created or retained by the Group is

recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled

ar expire,

The rights and obligations retained in the transfer
are recognised separately as assets and liabilities

as appropriate. In transfers where control over the
asset is retained, the Group continues to recognise
the asset to the extent of its continuing tnvolvement,
determined by the extent to which it is exposed to

changes in the value of the transferred asset.

¢ Oftsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the
net amount presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off
the amounts and intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously,

tncome and expenses are presented on a net basis
only when permitted under [FRS, or for gains and
losses arising from a group of similar transactions

such as in the Group's trading activity,

3.3 Amounts due from/to clearing organisations

Amounts due from/to clearing organisations
represent receivables for securities sold and payables
for securities purchased that have been traded but
not yet settled by the end of the year as well as (long
and short) cash balances with the clearing.

3.6 Property and eguipment

a Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised
as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property or equipment
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items {major components) of property and
equipment.




b Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property ar
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the
itemn if it is probable that the future economic benefits
ernbodied within the part will flow to the Group and
its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the
day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

¢ Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
each part of an item of property and equipment.
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful life.

The estimated useful life's for the current and

comparative periods are as follows:

- leasehold improvements: useful life with a
maximum of the lease term

— IT equipment: 2-6 years

- furniture and fixtures: 3-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

3.7 Subordinated liabilities

The Group classifies capital instruments as financial ‘
liabilities or equity instruments in accordance

with the substance of the contractual terms of the
instrument. The Group's preference shares bear non-
discretionary coupons, and are therefore included
within subordinated liabilities.

18 Provisions

A'provision is recognised if, as a resuit of a past
event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that éan be estimated reliably, and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be reguired to settle the abligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for anerous contracts is recognised when
the expected benefits to be derived by the Group
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable

cost of meeting its obligations under the cantract.
The provision is measured at the present value of
the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the expected net cost of continuing
with the contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the
assets associated with that contract.

3.9 Share capital

NA-Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of NA-ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction
from equity, net of any tax effects.

Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is
non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Company's
option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends
thereon are recognised as distributions within equity

upon approval by the Groups sharehclders.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if
it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option
of the shareholders, or if dividend payments are not
discretionary. Dividends therecn are recognised as

interest expense in profit or loss as accrued.

When share capital recognised as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid,
which includes directly attributable costs, is net of
any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from
equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury
shares and are presented as a deduction from total
equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued
subsequently, the amount received is recognised

as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus

or deficit on the transaction is transferred to / from
retained earnings.




3.10 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is determined using the balance sheet
method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. Deferred Yax is not recognised
for the following temporary differences: the initial
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there
is a fegally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised

simultaneously,

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer

probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

311 tmpairment

a Financial assets

At each reporting date the Group assesses whether
there is objective evidence that financial assets

not carried at fair value through profit or loss are
impaired. Financial assets are impaired when
ohjective evidence dermonstrates that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and
that the loss event has an impact on the future cash
flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.

The Group considers evidence of impairment at both
a specific asset and collective level. All individually
significant financial assets are assessed for specific
impairment. All significant assets found not to be
specifically impaired are then collectively assessed
for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Assets that are not individually significant
are then collectively assessed for impairment

by grouping together financial assets (carried at
amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired
can include default or delinquency by a borrower,
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market
for a security, or other observable data relating to

a group of assets such as adverse changes in the
payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group,
or economit conditions that correlate with defaults
in the group. In additien, for an investment in an
equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in
its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of

impairment.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost
are measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial assets and the present value
of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets’
original effectivé interest rate. Losses are recognised
in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account
against loans and advances. Interest on the impaired
asset continues to be recognised through the
unwinding of the discount.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment
securities are recognised by the cumulative loss

that has been recognised directly in equity to

profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is removed
from equity and recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost, net of

any principal repayment and amortisation, and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously

recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment




provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a
component of interest income.

If, in @ subsequent period, the fair value of an
impaired available-for-sale debt security increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is
reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised
in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in
the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognised directly in equity.

b Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial
assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the

asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are
grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating

unit").

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been

a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed

only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.12 Employee benefits

a Defined contribution plans

The Group employs a defined contribution plan for
eligible employees.

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment
benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an employee' benefit
expense in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future
payments is available.

b Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense
when the Group is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal
detailed plan to terminate employment before

the normal retirement date. Termination benefits

for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the

. Group has made an offer encouraging voluntary

redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be
accepted, and the nurnber of acceptances can be
estimated reliably.

¢t Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obtigations are
measured on an undiscounted basis and are

expensed as the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected

to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as 2 resuit
of past service provided by the employee and the
abligation can be estimated reliabty.




d  Share-based payment transactions

The Group has a share scheme in place that entitles
key management and senior employees to purchase
shares in the Company. Under the scheme, eligible
persons buy shares in Optiver Holding BV for

their fair value. On the grant date the fair value of
shares bought by the employees is recognised as

an increase in equity. There are no specific vesting
conditions. The fair value of the shares sold to
employees is based on the expected earning power of
the company, price earnings ratia's; observed in the
market place and the intrinsic value.

Upon leaving the Group these shares have to be
offered for sale to Optiver Holding BV against the
intrinsic value at that moment increased with the

surcharge paid when the shares were acquired.

3.13 MNettrading income
Net trading income comprises of trading income

minus direct trading expenses:

Trading income concerns fair value changes of the
- trading assets and liabilities as well as interest
income and expense and dividends, received and
paid and exchange rate gains and losses on the
trading positions and the related hedges. Dividend
tax is included in dividends received.

Direct trading expenses concern exchange and

clearing expenses and broker fees.

The fair value changes of the trading assets and
liabilities comprise of the realised profit and losses
on the Group's trading activities in e.g. shares,
baonds, derivatives and futures and the unrealised
results which are generated through the fair value
movements of trading positions.

Interest income and expenses, dividends received
and paid, and exchange rate gains and losses
associated with trading are included in trading
income because they form an important element

of the results earned on trading positions. Interest
income and expenses are recognised on an effective

interest basis and dividend income is recognized
when the rights to receive the cash flows are

confirmed.

3.14 Lease payments made

Payments made under operating leases (mainly
office leases) are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an integral part
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

3.5 Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it

is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years. .

316 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2009, and have
not been applied in preparing these Consolidated

financial statements.

“None of these will have an effect on the

Consolidated financial statements of the Group.

4 Determination of fair values

A number of thé Group's accounting policies and
disclosures require the determination of fair value,
for both financial and non-financial assets and
liabilities, Fair values have been determined for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based

on the methods as described in the notes below.
Almost all of the fair values are based on published
prices in active markets. Where applicable, further




infermation about the assumptions made in
determining tair values is disclosed in the notes
specific to that asset or liability.

4.1 Financial assets and liahilities, held for trading

The Group’s trading activities include market making
in derivatives as well as arbitrage activities. Market
making is the activity of quoting bid and offer prices
to other market participants for the purpose of
generating revenues hased on spread and volume.
Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price
differentials between markets and products, mainly

concerning securities.

The Group mainly trades on regulated and active
markets. Therefore substantially all of the financial
assets and liabilities, held for trading (comprised

of securities owned, securities sold but not yet
purchased and derivatives owned and sold), are
carried at fair value, based on market prices, as
published by exchanges, market vendors and
clearing houses and are marked to market on a daily
basis.

Due to the nature of the activities and risk approach
the total of the positions is in general delta neutral.
Offsetting positions (delta neutral) are valued at the
mid price which is the reported closing price, on

the relevant exchange. The Group consider this to
reflect the fair value of the securities and derivatives.
Remaining delta positions are valued at the bid

price for long positions and the ask price for short
positions.

In the case of offsetting positions in securities and
derivatives, traded on different exchanges, with
different closing times {an example being the ADR
arbitrage), the closing price on the exchange, which
closed first, is taken to be the base price for the
strategy. The valuation of the other leg is based upon
this closing price. '

For those derivatives for which the Greup has market
making responsibilities, the published market
prices are tested by comparing them with the prices

generated by the Groups internal valuation models.
The prices generated by these models are the basis
for the quotes sent toc the markets.

4.7 Investments available-for-sale

For those investments available-for-sale where there
is a quoted price in an active market, the fair value
is based on the bid price in that market,

For certain investments available-for-sale ne liquid
markets are available. in determining the

fair value of these investments certain valuation
techniques are used. If there are prices from recent
at arm’s lengths transactions in the investment,

(such as issuance prices), then these are used.

1f this is not available then other methods such
as a comparison with other instruments that are
substantially the same or, a discounted cash flow
analysis or option pricing modets refined to reflect

the issuers' specific circumstances can be used.

4.3 Associates and joint ventures

For determination of the fair value valuation
methodologies such as a comparison to recent at
arm's lengths transactions, discounted cash flow
techniques, etc. are used. If determination of the
fair value is not feasible using one of the valuation
techniques, the fair value is set at the value
according to the equity method.

44 Cashand cash equivalents

The fair value of the cash and cash equivalents, all
short term in nature, is approximated by the carrying
amount.

4.5 Other assels and liabilities

- The carrying amount of cther assets and liabilities is

not materially different from their fair value.




4.6 Critical accounting judgements in the valuation of

financial instruments

The group measures fair values using the following

fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of

the inputs used in making the measurements.

- Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an
active market for an identical instrument.

- Level 2; Valuation techniques based on
observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category
includes instruments valued using: quoted market
prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or simifar instruments
in markets that are considered less than active;
or other valuation techniques where all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data.

- Leve! 3: Valuation techniques using significant
unobservable inputs, This category includes -
all instruments where the valuation technigue
includes inputs not based on observable data
and the unobservable inputs have a significant
effect on the instrument's valuation. This
category includes instruments that are valued
based on quoted prices for similar instruments
where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differences
between the instruments.

Fai.r values of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are traded in active markets are based on
published prices in these markets. For all other
financial instruments the Group determines fair

values using valuation technigues.

Valuation technigues include net present value and
discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar

instruments for which market observable prices exist, -

Black-Scholes and polynomial option pricing models
and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs
used in valuation techniques include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other
premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and
equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity
and equity index prices and expected price volatilities

and correlations. The objective of valuation
technigues is to arrive at a fair value determination
that reflects the price of the financial instrument at
the reporting date, that would have been determined
by market participants acting at arm's length.

The group uses widely recognized valuation models
for determining the fair value of commeon and more
simple financial instruments, like interest rate and
currency swaps that use only observable market
data and require little management judgement and
estimation.

Observable prices and model inputs are usually
available in the market for listed debt and equity
securities, exchange traded derivatives and simple
over the counter derivatives like interest rate swaps.
Availability of observable market prices and model
inputs reduces the need for management judgement
and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty
associated with determination of fair values.
Availability of observable market prices and inputs
varies depending on the products and markets and
is prone to changes based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

The table below analyses financial instruments
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
pericd, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurement is categorized.

2009 - Level 1 | Level 2 | Level 3 Total
In € miftion

L 1
Trading 14,224.6

2,982.4 .1,242.2
assets i

e it [ . 1

i
9.8

Investments '
available 3.6 6.2
for sale .

R 3

1,978.0 1,271.8

|
Trading : .
liabilities :_3'?4.9'.8

2008 L
In € mitlion

Trading 5 777.5(|2,776.9 5,554.4

assets

|

Investn{ents
available 33 38 7.1
for sale_

5,326.0

Trading

liabilities 2,532.4(12,793.6




5 Financial risk management
Amounts are in € million, unless stated otherwise,

Overview of this section
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5.1 Global Risk Governance Model

The Group operates through a comprehensive risk
governance framework. This ensures the proper
identification, measurement and cantrol of risks at
all levels of the organisation, so that the Group's
financial strength is safeguarded.

The Group's risk governance model is based on the
‘three lines of defence’ concept, which ensures
that risk is managed in line with the risk appetite
as defined by the Global Management Board and is
cascaded throughout the organisation.

This concept provides a clear allocation of
responsibilities for the ownership and management
of risk, to avoid overlaps andfor gaps in risk
governance. The risk responsibilities are divided as
follows:

The first line of defence is largely represented by
the local Heads of Trading and IT Operations. Their
primary responsibility is the day-to-day management
of risk. They are also accountable for fosses

incurred,

Market and Credit Risk Management, Operational
Risk Management and Compliance form the risk

functions and the second line of defence and create
the framework within which the first line of defence
operates.

They put forward policies, limit structures and
determine risk appetite levels based upon a risk/
reward trade-off and within the requirements set

by law makers and regulators. Furthermore, they
monitor whether the tasks of the first line of defence
are effectively executed within the given frameworks.
The risk functions report to the Local Management
Teams and the Global Management Board.

The third line of defence is Internal Audit. Internal
Audit provides independent and objective assurance
on the effectiveness of the overall system of internal
control. To secure its independence, Internal Audit
reports to the Managing Director at local level and
the CEQ at global level.

The risk governance departments, Market and Credit
Risk Management, Compliance and Operational Risk
Management are represented on a local |evel within
the Local Management Teams via the local CRO
{Chief Risk Officer) and are represented in the Global
Management Board via the global CRO.

The local heads of the risk management departments
have a hierarchical line to the local CRO as well as

a functional line to the relevant global risk function,
The local CRO's have a hierarchical reporting line to
the local Managing Directors as well as a functional
line to the global CRO. The global risk functions
report directly to the global CRO.

The Group’s activities in Asia Pacific, Europe and
the US are conducted by partnerships, in which the
senior market makers are partners along with Optiver
Holding BV This structure, by which the payment of
profit to the partners is delayed and so can be offset
against any future/next vear’s losses, contributes to
an extra focus on risk by the partners.




5.2 Market and Credit Risk Management

5.2.1 Framework

At the three principal offices of the Group in
Amsterdam, Chicago and Sydney a local Market

and Credit Risk Management department has

been established. Under this set-up there is a
continucusly staffed risk department somewhere in
the world. The local departments are responsible

for the monitoring of the trading portfolios and

for policing the respective limits. Other tasks of

the local departments involve the explanation

of valuation differences, the validation of the
instrument settings, the maintenance and the control
over the key pre-trade limits and the continugus work
1o refine and extend the risk management reports.

In addition to the local Market and Credit Risk
Management departments, a Global function is

in place. The Global department is responsible

for the formulation of a uniform and consistent

set of policies and procedures that ensure a best
practice in the Group. These procedures include

a comprehensive set of limits. New option pricing
maodels need te be ratified by the Global department.

On a frequent basis the Global department

performs an assessment of the local departments.
The compilation of the aggregated, group-wide
consolidated market and credit risk reports is
additional responsibility of the Global department.
The Global department is led by the Global Head of
Risk, who has a direct reporting line to the Global
CRO and a functional reporting line to the Chairman
of the Global Management Board. The Global Head of
 Risk also has the authority to escalate issues directly
to the Supervisory Board if deemed necessary.

Given the big positions and the large numbers of
transactions that are executed per day, computerised
information plays a key role in managing the risks
related to the trading portfolios. Within the Group

a portfolio management system is in place that
provides real-time information on the positions and

the exposures.

The risk reports are based on snapshots of the
portfolios in the portfolio management system

and are being run multiple times per day. This
infrastructure allows the Group to assess its exposure
on an individual asset class level, on a sector level,
on a country level, and on a global level at any

given time. The risk reports are communicated to all

internal stakeholders.

Limits on positions are determined by the local
departments in cooperation with the local Heads of
Trading. Limit changes need to be ratified by the
Globa! Risk Department. All limits are subject to a

frequent revision process.

A dual limit structure is in place. The trading limits
are lower and serve as indicators for a build up of
exposures. In principle, the trading desks should
remain within these trading limits. The risk limits,
defined at a higher level, represent the hard limits
which should not be exceeded. Approval from the
respective Managing Director and the Global Head
of Risk Management is required for positions that
breach these risk limits.

5.2.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices
of instruments will affect the Group’s income

or the value of its holdings in those financial
instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising returns.

The Group is exposed to several different types of
market risk, these being: currency risk, interest rate

risk and other price risk.

a Gurrency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash fiows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in foreign exchange rates,

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from
trading positions denominated in any currency other




than the functional currency of the trading unit
holding those positions.

The approach to manage this risk is that transactions
in currencies other than the functional currency are
hedged instantly using foreign exchange spot trades.

Currency risk also arises on net investments in
fareign operations as well as net results of these
foreign operations during the year.

These risks are managed as follows:

- Net investments in foreign operations are fully
nedged using forwards or spof transactions.

- Net results of the foreign operations are hedged,
by using forwards or spot transactions, at the end
of every month.

b Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates,

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it
borrows funds at floating interest rates. In addition,
there is an exposure to the interest rates via some
of the instruments that are part of the Group's
trading portfolio. The Group manages interest rate
risk through daily risk reporting of the exposures to
changes in the different interest rate curves, This
sensitivity to changes in the interest rate curve is
called the Rho exposure. The aggregated exposures
to the different maturity buckets of these respective
yield curves are fully hedged using Interest Rate
Futures and Government Bond Futures. The choice
of the interest rate hedging instrument depends

on the time to expiration of the respective maturity
bucket.

¢ Dther price risk

In addition to currency risk and interest rate risk, the
Group is exposed ta share price risk and commodity
price risk on its trading financial assets and trading
financial liabilities. For its option positions, the

implied volatility of the underlying contract is an
additional risk factor. Other factors to consider are
fime (theta) and dividend expeciztions.

The risk is managed by strict controls and limits
relating to exposures, concentrations, pricing and
valuation parameters and natural hedging between
these long and short positions.

For the Group, exposure limits are defined in terms
of net individual and aggregate position sizes

and based on characteristics such as yield curve
exposure and exposure with respect to option risk
parameters, such as the exposure on price changes
and the exposure on changes in the implied
volatility,

On a frequent basis and at different stress levels

of the underlying values (see table for the stress
levels per asset cléss) the value of the portfolio

and the so-called Greeks are recalculated via full
revaluation. On a less frequent basis stress tests with
more extreme moves are evaluated, Towards the end
of 2009 the development of an internal portfolio
risk measure was started that takes relationships
between risk exposures more properly into account.
This risk measure will allow for a better comparison
between trading strategies and can be used as input
into the calculation of Economic Capital.

! Largest Largest
Asset Class B downward shift §  upward shift

§ in stress test in stress test
Equity - -30% . ' +30%
Fixed Income : . 1% ﬁr— +1% |

|, Wieldeune) | tyield curve)
Currency - -15% i; +13%:
Commodity . -30% |  +30%

The Greeks that are most widely used within the
Group are Delta, Gamma, Vega, Theta and Rho,
Delta represents the change in value of a portfolio
when the value of an underlying contract changes by
one unit of currency.




As the Group is active in arbitrage trading and does
not speculate on directional moves in underlying
values, the net delta positions of the portfolios
should be close to zero. Gamma measures the
change in delta of a portfolic when the value of an
underlying confract changes by one unit of currency.
Vega measures the change in the value of the
portfolio when the implied volatility is changed by
one unit. Theta measures the change in value of a
portfolio when one day passes by and all other input
parameters remain constant. Rho measures the
change in the value of the portfolio when the intergst
rate changes. Mathematically, the above Greeks
represent first order (Delta, Vega, Theta and Rho) or
second order {Gamma) derivatives of the portfolio
value. Dividend Risk is defined as the change in
value of a portfolio when all dividends are reduced

1o zero.

The continuous monitoring of the above Greeks is
of vital importance. The Greeks provide information
on the change in portfolio values when one of the
market factors change. Limits are in place for the
P&L exposures at different stress levels and for
Vega, Theta and Dividend Risk at the current price
level. These limits are in place at different levels of
aggregation: at individual asset level, at sector level,
at country level and global level {Europe, US and
Asia/Pacific).

In addition to the Group's internal risk reports,
haircut analyses on price, volatility and interest rate
movements are provided by the Group’s clearing
organisations. The haircut analysis measures all
positions, individual and correlated, and reflects
the different risk components. The haircuts are
cafculated daily by the Group’s clearing members
under the restriction that in any circemstance the
haircut must be lower than the dedicated capital
(per entity} reserved for trading activities, The third
party haircut calculation is a control mechanism for
the Group's internal calculations and completes the
Group’s overview of the risks that wé run on a daily

and overnight basis.

The following table shows the potential loss
based on the haircut as calculated by the clearing

organisations:

in € million

200% | 2008

March 31 ] e | e
June 30 T 73 , 'E_Sﬁ—
September 30 . ‘ ] 75 99:
December 31 I 687 ?;1“1——2“

5.2.3 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if
a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations.

The Group's credit risk arises from positions in cash
and cash equivalents, receivables from clearing
organisations as well as from QTC derivatives
exposures, non-exchange guaranteed derivatives,
warrants, ADR's, deposits, government securities,
and Free-of-Payment and overdue exposures. Credit
risk that could result from counterparties defaulting
is limited where the Group's trading operation is

on regulated exchanges, since the settlement risk

is essentially transferred to recognized clearing

members.

The counterparty exposures are monitored on a

Group level on a daily basis. Global limits have been
defined with respect to the total credit exposure
against a counterparty. The Global Head of Market
and Credit Risk Management is authorized to update
the counterparty exposure limits up to a certain level.
Beyond this level, changes in counterparty exposure
need to be ratified by the Global Management Board.
The counterparty exposure {imits are frequentiy
revised. The counterparty exposure limits apply to the
actual price level of the instruments, No probabilities
of default and recovery rates are being used in

the analysis of the counterparty exposure, During

the course of 2009 the Credit Risk department

has started the implementation of an internal
counterparty rating structure. These internal ratings
facititate a more up to date and more appropriate




assessment of the counterparties we trade with. In
order to anticipate changes in counterparty exposures
with changing price levels, the counterparty exposure

report also includes exposures at other price levels.

The Market and Credit Risk Management department
monitors the balance (netliq} held at clearing
organisations on a daily basis. 1t is then considered
if excess balances -netliq not needed to cover the
haircut requirements of the clearing organisations-
are transferred to deposits at other banks or are
invested in short term government centificates.

The trading companies of the Group have in place
individual agreements with the respective clearing
organisations in their jurisdiction. There is no cross
guarantee in place between the Group's trading
companies {except between the three VOF's) to
guarantee each other towards the clearing, nor is
there a guarantee by the Parent company of the
Group towards the clearing.

The parent company of the Fortis clearing has
guaranteed to the Group, to a certain maximum, the
net liquidation value of the cash and positions placed
by the Group's trading companies at the clearing.

Total credit risk can be summarized as follows:

In € miltion 8| 2009

Netlig .1 181 211
Haircut o P 68 7 : 112
l::::stly available--;:i:aring 113 5| 99
Freely available“at other banks ﬁ524‘ ' 203
Short term govef;l-;;nen'(- ;aper D 37 { 199

Total freely available cash . 374 .} s01

9.2.4 Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligaticns
associated with its financial liabilities that are

settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Group's approach to managing liguidity is to
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due,
under both normal and stressed canditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to
the Group's reputation.

The Group's actual cash position as well as the
remaining availability in credit Yines with clearing
organisations is monitored on a daily basis.




The table below shows the non discounted cash flows ensuing the most impértant financial liabilities broken

down according to contractual maturity dates:

Gross
In € million Carrying | nominal | Less than 1-3 3 months
amount | inflow / 1 month | months { to 1 year
{outflow)

31 December 2009
Due to clearing ‘ -
organisations b o '
Other liabilities 1116|1116 97.“67r 14.0

T .mmmr mm a1 T Lo o ER === AT - g e 1 B ) T o
Subordinated liabilitie 26| 26 [ 26
Total —l 9393/ 939.3 ( 922.7 l 0.0 l 1.0 o.o‘ 2.6 J
31 December 2008 }L J[ J[
Duetoclearing || 3200l 3200|] 3200] - T
organisations | - D T e |
Other liabilities [ 1885][ 1s8sl  96.3 92.2
Subordinated |Iab:I|ET_IE—S— - 707:4- - 7?? o 7 ) ’—777‘_-—6_9—7.6- T ) 1‘&—
Total T 5789 57aﬂ 4163 00] 1612 0.0 1.4

The maturity analysis for trading liabilities is not disclosed, because contractual maturities are not essential for

an understanding of the timing of cash flows of trading liabilities.

5.3 Compliance

Compliance risk is the risk of failure of the
arganisation to comply with laws, rules and
regulations or commanly defined standards of good
business practice in the relevant markets applicable
to the Group or to any Group company of to any of
their business activities.

The consequence of such failure can be of a financial
nature (cfaims or fines), of a commercial nature
{limitations, suspension or withdrawal of licenses)

or can negatively impact the reputation of the Group
harming the trust of stakeholders such as regulators
or business partners. They can also be of a criminal
nature, in which case directors and/or officers can be
prosecuted together with the company.

The abjective of the Compliance function is to
support management and the company with the
development and the maintenance of a compliant

and ethical business environment by identifying,
reviewing, reporting and advising on compliance
risks and thereby enhancing and safeguarding the
sustainability of its business.

Management and Compliance aim to make
compliant conduct of all business activities a natural
and understood efement of the company culture of
the Group.

Compiiance as one of the Risk Management
functions within Optiver is structured as an
independent function with direct lines to the Global
Management Board of the Group and an escalation
line to the Supeérvisory Board. Each of the main
offices in Amstgrdam, Chicago and Sydngy have well

resourced Compliance teams.

The Group operates in highly regulated environments
with a variety of national legislation, exchange
rules and market standards. Compliance closely




cooperates with management and the business in
order to provide for sound and campliant business

operations.

Special attention and effort is directed on the
further evolvement of the Groups compliance risk
methodologies and practices in accordance with best
practices and industry standards.

Alpngside with operational risk rmanagement the
Group works on an enterprise wide risk management
framework for furtherance of the quality of the
Group's overall risk management,

While compliance related training is of significance,
additional continuous investments are made to foster
athical business conduct by means of an ethics
program and therewith cultivate a well developed
compliance culture, based on the Optiver Principles

on Ethics and Business Conduct.

5.4 Operational Risk Management

Operational risk in Optiver is defined as “the

risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed

internal processes, people, systems or external
events” (Basel ). Qperational rigk in Optiver is
recognised as a significant risk category and as
such OQperational Risk Management {ORM) is an
integral part of management information and controi
systems.

A dedicated ORM function in each office is
responsible for establishing the ORM framework, and
promotes consistent and sound risk management
practices and processes across the group. This is in
line with regulatory and stakeholder expectations in
managing our cperational risk.

Cngaing grawth in our core infrastructure (people,
trading, IT systems and asscciated processes),
combined with a strategic focus on further
automation and ferecast increase in high speed
order transactions, will amplify inherent levels

of operational risk across the Group's operations.
Hence a robust assessment of operational risks and
internal controls is increasingly important.

A continuing focus is on identifying and assessing

key enterprise-wide risks fundamental to Optiver's
business, in an effort to better understand its risk
profile and drive business accountability for risk and
controls.

This assessment enables senior management to
evaluate our risk adjusted performance and take
action to reduce our exposure within risk tolerance
limits. To accomplish these goals, ORM has engaged
senior management in an active dialogue on key
risks, the control framework in place and specific
actions to address any weaknesses,

Each office has developed their operational risk
frameworks based on good practice and industry
standards. Significant progress has been made

in identification, assessment and monitoring of
operational risk incidents to allow us to back test
our control framework, as well as take preventative
actions to mitigate risks from reaccurring.

We will continue to enhance the risk incidents
framework by quantifying the realized financial loss
from operational risk incidents and develop a global
risk register system.

In addition, a number of ORM initiatives are in
development, such as a new process/product
approval, key risk indicators (KRI) reporting,

ICT Security program, operational effectiveness
monitoring, risk governance, management reporting
and appraisal of business continuity management.

Given the increasing reliance on IT systems, ORM
recognises |T development and operations as
significant risk areas and therefore aim to focus their

attention on it moving forward.

As Optiver's ORM program develops and matures,
increased recognition of the need for global
information sharing and synergy has helped drive
and improve consistency in ORM across the offices,
with work continuing to focus on alignment of

methodologies and tools.




5.5 Capital Management

The Global Management Board's policy is to
maintain a strong capital base to ensure continuity
of the trading activities as well as to sustain

future developments of the business. The Global
Management Board monitors the return on capital of
the trading entities on an almost continuous basis.
The Board also maonitors the level of dividends and
capital paybacks to the shareholders.

Externally there are capital requirements imposed
upon the individual trading entities by regulators,
exchanges and clearing banks, It is crucial for the
Group's activities that these requirements are met

at all times. These requirements and the available
capital in the trading entities are therefore monitored
on a daily basis.

The clearing bank provides the Group funding

for its trading activities, by way of cash or stock
lending. The clearing bank ¢lears the Group’s trades
and is the guarantor for the Group on regulated
exchanges and other trading platforms to the central
Counterparty.

The clearing bank calculates a haircut on a daily
basis. This haircut analysis measures all the
Group's positions ( individually and collectively),

at the clearing bank, and reflects the different risk
components. The capital held at the clearing banks
by the Group's trading entities, must, in any case
or circumstance, be higher than the haircut (per
entity). The capita! held by the Group's entities at
the clearing bank is also the basis for the available
financing by the clearing bank.

The Group monitors its capital at the clearing bank
and the required haircut on a daily basis, to make
sure that the capital requirements are met at all
times.

Each year every trading entity calculates the amount
of capital it expects to use in that year, based upon
its expected trading opportunities. The Global
Management Board decides on an allecation of

capital based upon expected returns and the risk
profile of the trading activities.

The policy of the Group is to have available an extra
“capital buffer” above the amounts needed to satisfy
internal and external requirements. This buffer is
held at the Holding level. In the case of market
abnormalities, this capital can be called upen to

continue trading.activities.

Capital, in excess of the requirements as described
above, is distributed to the shareholders.

The Global Management Board’s target is to issue
each year approximately 2% of its share capital to
staff and partners.

In the event that staff or partners leave the Group,
they have to offer their shares for sale to Optiver
Holding BY against the intrinsic value at that
moment increased with the surcharge paid when the

shares were acquired.,

There were no changes in the Group's approach to
capital management during the year.




B Financial assets and liabilities

Accounting classifications and fair values

The table below sets cut the Group's classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair
values (excluding accrued interest).

in € million

31 December 2009

Designated

at

Trading

value

fair

Loans and | Available-

receivables| for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

amortized

Other Total
carrying

amount | Fair value

Trading assets

Due fram clearing
organisations

Investments available-for-sale

Associates and |omt ventures

Total

Trading liabilities

Due to clearing orgamsatlons

Subordinated loans

Total

31 December 2008

Cash and cash equwalents

Trading assets

Due from tlearing
organisations

Investments available-for-sale

Associates and joint ventures

Total

Trading liabilities

Due to clearing organisations

Subordinated loans

Total
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1 Gash and cash equivalents

— e 1.
Short-term government
deposits 36J8 l 198. 61
sy i - = ===mo
Short-term deposns at banks 169 4 L 146.7
Cash balances at banks 9 [ 56. 6]
261}1 401.9 !

The cash and cash equivalents are freely available to
the campany, except for an amount of € 3.5 million
{2008: € 43.5 million).

8 Trading assets and liabilities

2009 | 2008

. | i
Trading assets ‘ ]
. < [

Securities 2,982.4 12777, 51

R A =

In € million

Derivatives 1,242.2 2,776.9]

o i 4.221;.6' 5,554.4

Trading liabilities

Securities 1 978 O 2,532.4

1

1 271 8 2,793.6

_ 3,24%8 5,326.0

Derivatives

9 Amounts due from/to clearing
organisations

Amounts due from/to clearing organisations
represent receivables for securities sold and payables
for securities purchased that have been traded but
not yet settled at the end of the year. Also included
are cash balances held at the clearing banks.

As guarantee for amounts owed to the clearing
banks are used; the cash balances held at the
clearing as well as the trading assets and liabilities

held by that clearing bank.

10 Investments available-for-sale

Net book amount 1 Janu_ary ZO—J - 6.3q
Acquisitions o [ - 24
Unrealised cha!l1ge in falr -va;lu‘e;__ mif; )
Net book amount 31 Decemt;:ra;go—Bw . ?T
Acquisition T MA-;O.;T
Unrealised change in fm?viﬁii NW:‘:-Z:.ZM
Net book amount 31 December 200;—‘ 9.8
Total amortized‘ cost ) 7.6
Unrealised cha!nge in fair valae;— BB Y_2:;
Net book amount 31 Decembe;z(;;“ 9.8

The investment of the Group in various exchanges,
via participations or so called seats, is classified as

available-for-sale.




11 Associates and joint ventures

The Group's share of profit in its equity accounted investees for the year was minus € 2.3 million (2008: minus € 0.8 million).
Summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group:

Non-
In € miltion Owner- | Current | Current | Total Current Reve- Profit/
shmp asseis | assels | assets | Louily jhabilities | Vabilities| nues (Expensesy loss
— IR - R
2008 MING [ 49% —[L 06—![ 1.5 ! 10 l 0.5 ( 11| 27 | -1.:]

(associate)

The Greup has a 45% stake in MINC. As per year end 2009, the investment in MINC has been valued at nil. The
Group has no further commitment to invest in MINC and has no additional exposures to any liabilities of MINC,
The annual report 2009 of MINC was not available at the time of preparing the financial statements of the Group.

2009 TOM so% | 25 | 20| 45| 39| o6 06 1 ool 21 -21
{joint venture) A

The activities of TOM started in 2009. The Group increased the investment in Q1 201C with € 0.8 million and
committed to invest an additional amount of € 0.9 miilion in the equity of TOM.

12 Property and equipment

Total property and equipment

In € miilion

Cost

Balance at 1 Janu;ry 2008 439 Balance at 1 Jan;xéry 2009 80.7
Translation differem-:z:- _ -1.4 Translation difference-:::- i 1.9
Acquisitions o 419 Acquisitions 93.6
Disposals - 3.7 Disposals o -4.9
Balance at 31 Dec:;iber 2008 80.7 Balance at 31 Decemil-x; 2009 101.3

Depreciation and |mpa|rment losses

Balance at 1 January 2008 12.3 Balance at 1 January 2009 21.7
Transtation d|fferencé7 7 0.5 Transtation difference o 0.6
Depreciation for the pe{n:)d 13.5 Depreciation for the perlod 22.0
Disposals - -3.6 Disposals - -4.0
Balance at 31 Decen'_\!;;—éoos 217 Balance at 31 Dec;nbet é009 40.3
Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 January 2008 316 |

Balance at 31 December 2008 59.0

Balance at 31 December 2009 61.0




IT equipment

In € million

Cost

Balance at 1 January éOOB 14.7 Balance at 1 Ja‘nuary_2009 35.6
Translation difference : ; - 0? Translation différence ST 1.3
Acquisitions T i —2;6 ) Acquisitions , T -TS_E_
Disposals ) _:ﬁf__—:J =_3_'1 Disposals ] ) -i _—:] |—=L“_-I- ]
Balance at 31 Decembéf 200 ‘ 35.6 Balance at 31 Deceml;er 2009 47.6
Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2008 7.1 Balance at 1 .lalnuar;( 2008 ] 12.9 J
Translation difference 7 T j ; E)? Translation diff:erence I r-—-- ——:g—
Depreciation for the pe:zrit-)d 7::ﬁ_: T ‘:?3‘_2:* Depreciation folr the period ] 15.4
Disposals o _L: B 3? Disposals ’ T —:.’:3_8
Balance at 31 Deceml;erJ200_8 12.9 | Balance at 31 becemb;ar 20(;_9:-_“— 25.1
Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 January 50053 ﬁ___L l _7_'7:._76

Batance at 31 December 2008 (| 227 |

Balance at 31 Decembt_ar 200;:‘ MT r ?z_s

Other property and equipment

in € million

Cost

Balance at 1 JanuaryéOOS L 29.2 Balance at 1 JJanu.;aryi 2009 ] 45.1
Translation difference o _T T T)Ws— Translation dif%erence ] __06“-
Acquisitions _ __ﬁj ¢17.3d Acquisitions ‘ N T 2?
Disposals o Mi H__ﬁ Disposals l o —W
Balance at 31 Decemrb;r’ ZC;OTETL WT 45.1 Balance at Bl,Decembé:;Eaé 53.7




Depreciation and impairment losses

In € mifiion

Balance at 1 January 2008 5.2 Balance at 1 Jahﬂé}y 2009 8.8
Translation differeﬁ(;f:a_ - -0.2 Translation differérné;ir - 0.0
Depreciation for the period 4.3 Depreciation for thé-period 6.6
Disposals N 0.5 Disposals o -0.2
Balance at 31 Decer;ﬁier 2008 8.8 Balance at 31 Decrerrnble:éODQ a 15.2
Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 .Iar;uary 2008 24.0

Balance at 31 Deﬁerhbe? 2008 36.3

Balance at 31 Decémber-2609 38.5

Operating leases

Operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

in € mitlion l
Less than one yéa;_ HL 4.51 - ;f_9
Between one -a;_d:_five years r_; _E,T’gh 7.3
More than five;eiars [ 1.5 1.3
- . 126l 135

The Group leases a number of office premises under
operating leases. The leases typically run for a period
of up to 10 years, with an option to renew the lease
after that date and an option to break the lease after
& years. Lease payments are increased every b years
to reflect market rentals.

13 Other liabilities

in € million ) 2009
Profit sharing siaff [ 14.0 79;2
Payable to min:);t—; interest [_-5;? 41.2 |
interest on prefereﬁt; shares ‘ B b{S‘O% 5.6
Taxes : l 7n€: 9.9
Crdios st abites g | g5 50
Total 7 o | 1116} 1885

14 Subordinated liabilities

2009 2008

In € miilion

- : |
Preferepce sha!res with non 26 | 63.4
discretionary r:g@ts T
Subordinated loan D.Ol 7.0
Total 26| 704

Preference shares

In 2007 the articles of association have been
changed and as a consequence two types of
preference shares were issued:

1. Preference H shares with a nominal value of

€ 141.72. These shares hold a non discretionary,
cumulative, right on dividend to the amount of 4%
calculated over the nominal paid in amount.

Qver the course of 2008, the nominal value of the
preference shares H has been decreased with € 90 to
€ 51.72. The nominal value of the preference shares
H has been decreased to € O in the second quarter
of 2008.

2. Preference A shares with a nominal value of

€ 2.12. These shares hold a non discretionary,
cumulative, right on dividend to the amount of 1%
calculated over the nominal paid in amount.




One preference A share can be converted into one
NA Ordinary shares at any time at the request of the
holder of the preference A shares. In 2009 3,347
(2008: 250) preference A shares were converted into
NA ordinary shares. The number of preference shares
outstanding per 31 December 2009 is 131,912
shares (per 31 December 2008: 131,384 shares).

The Group classifies capital instruments as financial
liabilities or equity instruments in accordance

with the substance of the contractual terms of the
instrument. The Group's preference shares bear non-
discretionary coupons, and are therefore classified as
a financial liability.

The dividend to be paid is accrued at year end and
charged to the income statement as interest.

The movement in the preference shares can he

specified as follows:

in € miltion

Amount of pref A/H shares T 172.3
per 1 January 2008 o AT
lssued in 2008 (pref A) 12
Repayment in 2008 (pref H) | -1101
Amount of pref A/H shares 63.4
per 31 December 2008 '
Issued in 2009 (pref A) 1 12
Repayment in 2009 (pref H) 1l -62.0
Amount of preference A shares h 26
per 31 December 2009 )

Subordinated loan
The subordinated loan bears an interest of 5.7% per

annum.

In 2008 the repayments on the subordinated loans
totalled € 15.7 million.

The outstanding balance of the subordinated loans
as of 1 January 2009 was fully repaid in the course
of 2009.

15 Provisions

in € miltion 2009 2008
Positicn at start of financial 17.1 0.0
year ) |
Contribution 0.0 17.1
Release -3.3 0.0

1. o=

Position by end of financial year 13.8 17.1

Included in the provision per year end are amounts for
the settlement of onerous rent contracts as well as for
claims made by third parties and amounts to be spent
when leaving premises na longer used by the Company.

The Group is a defendant in a civil action brought

by the CFTC that alleges market manipulation and
attempted market manipulation in trading energy con-
tracts during a one-month period in early 2007, The
Group is subject to conselidated class action suits mir-
roring the claims made by the CFTC. Finally, the Group
is aware of a criminal investigation by the Department
of Justice regarding the same events that are subject
of the CFTC charges. Based upon facts available, the
Group provided for possible fines, claims and legal
expenses relating to the civil action, investigation and

class action,

The part of the provisions that will lead to a cash
outflow in 2010 is presented as short term other li-

abilities.

16 Deferred tax liabilities

Provision for dgfgrr_ed taxation

] 2009 2008

in € million

Position at start of financiai 54.7 ' 300
year 7 ] I U
Contribution 0.0 24.7
Release -28.3 0.0

Position by end of financial year

‘ 26_.4 . 54.7

The deferred tax liabilities concern the temporary dif-

ferences in valuation of positions for financial reporting




purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

The Tax Inspector is of the opinion that the fiscal valu-
ation, used by Optiver, is no longer valid. This would
result in the deferred tax liability being acutely owed.

The Group does not agree with the opinion of the
Tax Inspector and the case is now being tried by
the appropriate Tax courts.

This procedure is expected to last for a number of
years. The Group remains of the opinion, that its
valuation for tax purposes is carrect. The provision is

therefore regarded as being long term in nature.

17 Capital and reserves

The number of NA Ordinary shares outstanding per
31 December 2009 is 1,270,703 (per 31 December
2008: 1,267,958). The number of priority shares
outstanding per 31 December 2009 is 22 {per 31
December 2008: 22).

Of the total of NA Ordinary shares cutstanding per 31
December 2009 about 36% (per 31 December 2008:
38%) is bound. Bound means that the shareholder has
to offer these shares to the company when leaving.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale in-
vestments until the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve is formed for profits generated by
subsidiaries, which are not available for distribution by
that subsidiary within the next year.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of liabilities that
hedge the Group's net investment in foreign operations.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises of the results on the
effective portion of the Group's hedge of its net invest-

ment in foreign operations.

18 Trading income

in € million N
Trading result T 244.5 52
Dividends recei-v;d- a;ﬁ paid | 3431’ 129;
Interest receiv;d ;Z:T - -15 1 7: TZT?
Trading income o 263.7; 710.6

19 Personnel expenses

In € million N
Salaries . 41.1 ; 28.2
Profit sharing staf; ) ) 174 94.3
Social security 7;—:_——: 42I“#3—7_
Pension costs , 24 1.7
Other staff costs: 7 : 871 8.4
Total - 738 136.3

20 Other expenses

In € million
ot oo o || 38| 209
Housing costs o 9.8: 12.0
Advisory costs o - 767.07‘ 7.3
Recruitment cos-t;“ . 15 1.8
omer | a1 220
Total | © 56.0'| 68.0




21 Income tax expense

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

In € million 1

Profit before income tax

Income tax using the domestic corporatibn tax rate

4

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictionjé

Non-deductible expenses f

¢ :

g e

Tax on profit attributable to minarity intérest

i

Total

_2_2.7;_____ | 3664
o ss men 554

: 8.8% 20 17/ 62
T aew 27 aew%| 68
T se% se 1sew]| 718

With its 100 % subsidiaries Optiver BV, Optra BV,
Optrix BY, Optiver Asia Trading BV, Optiver Asia
Holding BV, Optiver Financial Services Holding BY,

Optiver Australia Holding BY, Qptiver Electricity
Holding BV, Optiver China Holding BV and Optiver

Japan Holding BV, the Company forms a fiscal

unity for the purposes of corporation tax. In this
respect, the company is severally liable for the fiscal
obligations of the said shareholdings.

22 Group entities

Significant subsidiaries (21l 100 %)

Optiver BY, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, which is a
partner in Optiver VOF, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Optra BV, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, which is a
partner in Optra VOF, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
QOptrix BV, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, which is a
partner in Optrix VOF, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Optiver Asia Holding BV, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Optiver Asia Trading BY, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Optiver Financial Services Helding BY, Amsterdam
Optiver Australia Helding BV, Amsterdam

Optiver Electricity Holding BY, Amsterdam

Optiver China Holding BV, Amsterdam

Optiver Japan Holding BY, Amsterdam

Optiver Trading Hong Kong Limited,

Hong Kong, China

Optiver Holding Hong Kong Limited,

Hong Kang, China

Optiver Investment Hong Kong Ltd, Hong Kong, China
Optiver Shanghai Investment Consultancy Ltd,
Shanghai, China

- Optiver Australia Holdings Pty Limited,
Sydney, Austrafia
— Optiver Electricity Trading Pty Limited,
Sydney, Australia
— Optiver Trading Pty Limited, Sydney, Australia
— Optiver Australia Unit Trust, Sydney, Australia
— Bluemoon International Pty Limited, Sydney, Australia
- Techlinvest Pty Limited, Sydney, Australia
~ Optiver Australia Pty Limited, Sydney, Australia
- QOptiver Financial Services Pty Limited,
Sydney, Australia
- Asia Pacific Arbitrage Partnership, Sydney, Australia.
— Optiver Taiwan Co, Limited, Taipei, Taiwan
— Optiver Japan Ltd, Tokyo, apan
- Optra Curagao NV, Willemstad, Curagao,
Netherlands Antilles
— Optiver US LLC, Chicago, United States of America
— Keldoulis Holding BY, Amsterdam, the Netherlands




23 Related parties

General

The members of the Global Management Board (6
persons) and the members of the Supervisory Board
(3 persons) are censidered the persons responsible
for steering and centrolling the group. The members
of these boards are therefore considered related
parties within the scope of IAS 24.

Loans to related parties

Loans to related parties issued during the year ended
31 December 2009 amounted to € 0.6 million
(2008: € 3.8 million). The interest payable in 2009
amounted to 4,9% (2008: 4.8%). The loans have to
be repaid in 4 years time. The loans are used to buy
shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2009 the balance outstanding was
€ 2.2 million (at 31 December 2008: € 2.5 million)
and is included in cther current assets and prepaid
expenses.

Related parties compensation
Related parties compensation comprised:

in € million 2002 2008

Short-term employee benefits:

Total 1.1 1.8

Statutory Board of Directors ,[ 0.9 1.6
T Fr_:.:. EIRTEL

Supervisory Board { 0.1 0.1

Other related parties ; 0.1] 0.1

Related parties transactions
Related parties control 46% of the voting shares of

the Company as well as 100% of the priority shares.

Priority shares are involved in the formal approval
process of proposals of the management board
relating to amendment of the articles of association
of Optiver Holding BV, fiquidation of the company
and a merger or division as referred to in title 7,
Book 2, Dutch Civil Code.

In 2009 the repayment on preference shares held
by related parttes totalled € 29.7 million
(2008: € 51.8 million),

The total interest paid to related parties on
preference shares was € 3.1 million
{2008: € 3.3 million).

In 2009 the Company bought back 22,138 NA
Qrdinary shares from its shareholders
(2008: 7,791 shares).

The price paid for these shares was in accordance
with the agreement signed by these shareholders
when they acquired these shares.

Amsterdam, 16 Aprif 2010
The Board of Directors

J.E.A. van de Ven
J.M. Visser




Company financial statements

Company balance sheet
At 31 December (before profit appropriation)

in € mittion

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets
Other fixed assets

Financial fixed assets

Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Current assets

Account receivable
Receivables from group companies
Corporation Tax

Other receivables

122.7
32.0
10.0

Cash and cash-equivalents

Total assets

33.7

2492

164.7

162.0

609.6

HI
37,1
366.3
269.6
g4.1
8.3
362.0
210.9




In € million

LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 28
Share premium reserve 16.8
Fair value reserve 2.2
Statutory reserve shareholdings 180.2
Translation reserve 7.7
Hedging reserve 7.7
Retained earnings 185.4
Unappropriated result for the year 6.3

Non current liabilities

Subordinated loans
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions

Current liabilities
Short-term liabilities

Payables to group companies 166.7
Other payables and deferred liabilities 19.6

Total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

2.7

11.3

0.0

78.7

34

-3.4

64.6

2284
393.7
2.6
248
2.2

408.8

58.4
186.3
609.6

467.2

976.3




Company income statement
For the year ended 31 December

n € miifion

Result on subsidiairies after taxation
Other results after taxation

Net profit




Notes to the Company financial statements

General

Optiver prepares the company financial statements
in accordance with the statutory provisions of Book
2, sector 402, of the Dutch Civil Code. Based on
this, the result on subsidiaries after taxation is the
only item shown separately in the income statement.
Use has been made of the option offered in Book 2,
Section 362(8) of the Dutch Civil Code to use the
same principles for valuation and determination of
the result that are used in the consolidated financial
statements. Reference is made to the accounting
principles as explained in Note 3 to the Consolidated

financial statements.

For additional information on items not explained
further in the Notes to the Company balance sheet
reference is made to the notes on the Consolidated
balance sheet.

Subsidiaries are all companies and other entities
in respect of which Optiver has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies, whether directly
or indirectly, and which are controlled by Optiver.
The subsidiaries are acceunted for using the equity
method. Changes in balance sheet values due tc
the results of these subsidiaries, accounted for in
accordance with Optiver accounting policies, are
included in the profit and loss account. Where
investments have negative equity this negative
amount will be deducted from the intercompany

receivable.




Notes to the Company Balance Sheet at 31 December 2009

2008
In € miltion |
ASSETS 3 |
Fixed assets :
Tangible fixed assets 1 !
Other fixed assets ‘ .
Total investments ‘ 57.3 48.2
Cumulative depreciation 3 -23.6 -11.1 ‘
'
Book value ! 33.7 7.1 !
Mavements during the financial year: 3
|
Position at start of financial year ‘ 37.1 19.5 ‘
Investments i 9.1 252,
!
46.2 aa.7,
Depreciation j -12.5 761
‘ I
Position by end of financial year 33.7 37.11
Financial fixed assets
Subsidiaries and joint ventures :
Position at start of financial year 366.3 269.1"
Investments % 3.0 3.3
i .
Results on subsidiairies ! 29.5 235.4,
Fair value change an available-for-sale fibancial assets 0.3 1.8
Exchange rate differences : 3.9 -3.3 :
Dividend received 1 -153.8 -136.4 !
|
Position by end of financial year 249.2 366.3 ;
The shareholdings concerned are (100%, unless stated otherwise):
| Registered in Amsterdam, the Netherlands: \’ i
Optiver BV Optiver Asia Holding BV Optiver China Holding BV
Optra BY Optiver Financial Services Holding BY  Optiver Japan Holding BY
Optrix BV Keldoulis Holding BY Optiver Australia Holding BV
Optiver Asia Trading BV Optiver Electricity Holding BV TOM Holding BV (50%)
(Registered in Sydney, Australia: i ]
QOptiver Australia Heldings Pty Limited
{ Registered in Willemstad, Curagao, Helherlalids Antilles: I ]

Optra Curagao NV




In € million

Current assets

Account receivable

Receivables (current account) from group companies
QOptiver BY

Qptiver Asia Holding BY

Optiver Asia Trading BY

Optiver Financial Services BV
Optiver US, LLC

Optra Curagao NV

Optiver Japan Holding BY

Optiver Electricity Helding BY
Optiver Australia Holding Pty Ltd
Optiver Australia Holding BV

Asia Pacificic Arbitrage Partnership
Optiver China Holding BY

Interest on the current accounts is calculated at
a rate equal to the ECB refinancing rate on 1 January,
plus 2.5% (2009: 5.0%, 2008: 6.5%}

2008

137.3

0.0
86.8 98.7
14.7 16.8
0.0 2.7
0.9 -
1.1 0.0
3.4 39
0.0 10.2
8.8 -
6.6 -
0.2 .
0.2 -
122.7 269.6




Capital and reserves

Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves .

| . Share Share Fair value Statutory
n € million ! . .
capital premium reserve reserve
* 2.6 14 1.6 0.0

Balance at 1 January 2008
o o e e ama e ety e e —————
Total recognized income and bl 1 : 16
expense | ' Bt
___—--—'-“‘;::Tff -  am—mee 7.1?'.1;7 - = F—— = e
Issue of shares !; 0.1 9.9 ‘:
] !
- T__,:,,___.% ,i, _,_:J|;:_A_7_7__ bz b oo
! 78.7
b e e ——————
i B ST T
Currency translation differences !
Purchase of own shares i |
I ) NPTV RO

Balance at 1 January 2009 | 2.7 11.3

R o] i; R et = 3 ; = n—
Total recognized income and || I ‘
expense | ; i :
B ;W ‘:; - L .i;ﬁ,$-::,:—-— T L e
Issue of shares - L 0.1 i 5.5 !
=== R {Ij,__., —-z - - L —— _,_;k.:_—n—.:; == SE T e
Net change in fair value L !‘ 22
R | A R R U RO
1 R R P
Appropriation of result 2008 i / | | 101.5
. ramadh R e ; = mm Al e sl
Currency translation differences 1 ‘ . |
. :‘-:;' P B e L — ___fi‘ e AT
Purchase of own shares |
AL

Balance at 31 December 2009 \ 2.8 16.8 2.2 ; 180.2




6.9 69 | | ! 0.0
e L I I
e b !. I S
g -1.0 -1.0
_J ;
E il
34 34 64.6 2284 | 385.7
0 ESRAPY SR - -
i 6.3 1 6.3
OSUURUS FUSS U ]
11 | j 6.7
—————— = el e e e o
i i
| . %L 2.2
—_—T T T - — e ]i A:E o T T T =
126.9 2284 0.0
. I S ;L ! )
i J )
43 43 ; 0.0
U : } |
y 7.2 ! 7.2
i i

7.7 { 77 | 185.4 6.3 393.7




In € million

Short-term liahilities ; .

Liabilities {current account) to group companies

Optra B | 9.5 60.5]
Optrix BV ‘ 9.5 60.5.
Optiver BY | 74.3 0.0°
Optiver VOF 0.0 86.6
Optrix VOF : 24.3 185.8
Optiver Holding HK Ltd : 45.1 2.0
Optiver Australia Holding PTY Ltd | 0.0 10.4°
Optiver US LLC 0.0 0.3'
Keldoulis Holding BV ! 3.4 27
Optiver Australia Unit Trust ‘ 0.6 0.0,
r !
| ‘
‘
|

166.7 408.8

Interest on the current accounts is calculated at ]
a rate equal to the ECB refinancing rate on 1 January,
plus 2.5% (2008: 5.0%, 2008: 6.5%}




Audit fees

With reference to Section 2: 382a of the
Nethertands Civil Code, the following fees for
the financial year have been charged by KPMG
Accountants N.V to Optiver Holding BY,

In € thousand )
géztotiltr?tr:audit of-aAnn;a;!mi 266.0i 316.0
Other assurance se;rvices* : 16.1} 124.0
Tax adv?sory service;— ’L " .

Other non-audit gér;rices {r .

Total m' 282.1. 440.0

* Including audit of statutory financial statements of

subsidiaries and other consolidated entities.

Amsterdam, 16 April 2010

The Board of Directors

J.EA. van de Ven
LM. Visser




Other information

Statutory regulations Profit appropriation
The appropriation of profits is at the disposal of the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Profit appropriation

It is proposed to the General Meeting that the net
result of 2009 of € 6.3 million be added to the
retained earnings.

Auditor's report
“To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the
Supervisory Board of Optiver Holding BV

Auditor's report

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial
statements 2009 of QOptiver Holding BV, Amsterdam,
The financial statements consist of the consolidated
financial statements and the company financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements
comprise the consalidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2009, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatery
information. The company financial statements
comprise the company balance sheet as at 31
Decertber 2009, the company income statement for
the year then ended and the notes.

Management's responsibility

Management is responsible for the preparation

and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Unien and
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil
Code, and for the preparation of the management
board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2
of the Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances,

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

the financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch

law. This law requires that we comply with ethical
requirements an:d plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures

in the finaneial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial
statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Optiver Holding BV as at 31 December 2009, and of
its result and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accardance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.



Opinion with respect to the company financial
sfatements

In our opinion, the company financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Optiver Holding BY as at 31 December 2009, and of
its result for the year then ended in accardance with
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regiatory reguirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub
5 part f of the Netherlands Civil Code, we report, to
the extent of our competence, that the report of the
Board of Directors is consistent with the financial
statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the
Netherlands Civil Code.

Amstelveen, 16 April 2010
KPMG ACCOUNTANTS N.V.

FA.M. de Wit RA
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